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Statement of the Case

Thi s proceedi ng concerns a contest filed by Raven M ning
Company on March 2, 1979, challenging the legality of the
i ssuance of the captioned citation and order. The notice of
contest is in the formof a letter dated February 8, 1979, from
contestant's attorney, challenging the fact of violation and
requesting a hearing on the closure order for the purpose of
"det erm ni ng damages sustai ned" by Raven M ni ng Conpany.

Respondent MSHA filed an answer on March 28, 1979, and
asserted that the order was properly issued after contestant
failed to take reasonable steps to abate the citation after an
extension of the original tinme for abatenent had been granted by
the i nspector who issued the citation. By notice of hearing
i ssued on July 11, 1979, the matter was schedul ed for hearing in
Bristol, Virginia, Septenmber 11, 1979. Thereafter, on August 23,
1979, MSHA filed a notion to dismss on the ground that the Act
does not provide a renmedy for recovery of "damages" sustained by
a mne operator as a result of a closure order, and that a fina
order assessing a civil penalty in the anmount of $160 for the
violation in question was entered on May 23,
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1979, and upon subsequent non-paynent, was forwarded to the
Departnment of Justice for collection on July 12, 1979. The
collection procedure initiated by MSHA pursuant to 30 CFR 100.5
and 100.6, resulted fromcontestant's failure to respond to the
initial notice of assessment issued by MSHA. Since MSHA's notion
to dismss was filed well after the notice of hearing, no ruling
was made and the parties were directed to appear at the hearing
and MSHA was af forded an opportunity to be heard on its notion

A hearing was conducted on the nerits of the w thdrawal order and
the parties were afforded a full opportunity to be heard on al

i ssues presented in the proceeding. The parties were afforded an
opportunity to file posthearing briefs but declined to do so.

| ssues Present ed

1. \Whether the final disposition of the civil penalty
proceedi ng pursuant to Part 100, Title 30, Code of Federa
Regul ati ons, which resulted fromcontestant's failure to tinely
chal | enge the issuance of the citation, precluded contestant from
chal l enging the propriety and legality of the closure order which
resulted fromthe failure to abate the citation within the tine
fixed by the inspector.

2. \Wether the time fixed for abatenment of the citation was
reasonabl e and whet her the closure order was properly issued.

Applicable Statutory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30
U S.C. 0801 et seq

2. Sections 104(a) and (b) of the Act, which states as
fol | ows:

(a) If, upon inspection or investigation, the
Secretary or his authorized representative believes
that an operator of a coal or other mine subject to
this Act has violated this Act, or any mandatory heal th
or safety standard, rule, or regulation pronul gated
pursuant to this Act, he shall, with reasonable
pronpt ness, issue a citation to the operator. Each
citation shall be in witing and shall describe with
particularity the nature of the violation, including a
reference to the provision of the Act, standard, rule,
regul ation, or order alleged to have been violated. In
addition, the citation shall fix a reasonable tinme for
t he abatenent of the violation. The requirenent for
the issuance of a citation w th reasonabl e pronptness
shall not be a jurisdictional prerequisite to the
enf orcenent of any provision of this Act.

(b) If, upon any follow up inspection of a coal or
other mne, an authorized representative of the
Secretary finds (1) that a violation described in a
citation issued pursuant to subsection (a) has not been
totally abated within
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the period of tine as originally fixed therein or as
subsequently extended, and (2) that the period of tine
for the abatenent should not be further extended, he shal
determ ne the extent of the area affected by the violation
and shall pronptly issue an order requiring the operator
of such mne or his agent to i nmedi ately cause all persons,
except those persons referred to in subsection (c), to be
wi thdrawn from and to be prohibited fromentering, such
area until an authorized representative of the Secretary
determ nes that such violation has been abat ed.

DI SCUSSI ON
Background of the Controversy

On January 8, 1979, at approximately 9:45 a.m, NMSHA

i nspector Joseph Tankersley issued Citation No. 035139 pursuant
to section 104(a) of the Act charging a violation of 30 CFR
75.1713-2. He fixed the abatenent tinme as 9 a.m, January 12,
1979, and the citation stated as follows: "A conmunications
system was not provided at the mne where the nearest point of
nmedi cal assistance in case of an energency coul d be contact ed.
(The phone conpany had renoved the phone from m ne property)."

On January 12, 1979, the inspector extended the abatenent
time to January 19, 1979, and the reason given for the extension
was stated as follows: "The mine foreman stated that the
operator contacted the phone conmpany, and they are going to
install the phone as they could get to it. Mre tinme is needed
for the tel ephone conmpany to install the tel ephone.™

On January 22, 1979, the inspector issued a section 104(b)
order of withdrawal and the basis for this action is shown on the
face of the order as follows: "A communication system has not
been provided at the m ne where medi cal assistance could be
contacted in the event of an energency.”

The inspector nodified the withdrawal order on January 23,
1979, to show that the entire mne and surface work areas were
closed. He further nodified the closure order on January 24,
1979, to allow m ne operations to continue, and the reasons for
this action are shown on the face of the nodification order as
follows: "This is a nodification allow ng the operator to resune
operations due to the fact that Mbss 3-A Mne, dinchfield Coa
Conmpany is readily available (estimated five (5) mnutes travel)
and the operator is installing conmunications to the Miss 3-A
M ne. Moss 3- A personnel have agreed to the comuni cation
system"”

The order was subsequently term nated on January 26, 1979,
after abatenment of the cited conditions and after tel ephone
communi cati ons were established between the Raven M ne and the
Ainchfield Mne, and dinchfield agreed to supply energency
anbul ance service. The tel ephone communi cati ons between the two
mnes is the systempresently in use and MSHA has now
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accepted this arrangenment as conpliance with the requirenents of
section 75.1713-2 (Tr. 78-84).

Testinmony and Evi dence Adduced by NMSHA

MSHA i nspector Joseph R Tankersley testified that he issued
the citation and order in question, and he identified copies of
the citation, order, the nodification of the order, and the
term nation of the order (Exhs. G4 through G6). During his
January 8th inspection, he noticed that the tel ephone which had
been installed for energency conmuni cati on had been renoved from
the mne. Based on conversations with the mne foreman, he
ascertained that the tel ephone was renoved by the phone conpany
for failure to pay delinquent bills. The phone jack was still on
the wall of the mne office and he had observed the tel ephone
during previous mne inspections. The phone was installed to
comply with section 75.1713-2, and m ne president James C
Scar borough, had previously submtted a letter to the MSHA
di strict manager advising that the enmergency communi cati on system
woul d be by tel ephone. The letter stated that the operator would
contact the Dante Cinic by tel ephone in emergency cases (Tr.

37). Inspector Tankersley expl ained the requirenent of the
standard to the foreman, and when asked whether a CB radi o was
acceptable to neet the requirenents of section 75.1713-2, he
advised himthat it was. However, a CB radio was not |ocated on
m ne property during the January 8th inspection. The CB radio
was kept in the mne foreman's personal vehicle which was bei ng
used by his wife on that day, and anytinme mners or their w ves
used the vehicles, the CB's would be off mne property. \Wen he
i nspected the mne on January 8, 1979, there was no autonobile or
CB radio on mne property, and there was no ot her form of
conmmuni cati ons avail abl e.

I nspect or Tankersley testified that he fixed January 19 as
the abatenent time, but could not return to the mne unti
January 22, at which tinme he found that the mne phone had not
been reinstall ed because of non-paynent of back bills. He
nodi fied his order on January 24, because M. Scarborough spoke
with MBHA' s subdistrict manager about providing an alternate
conmuni cati on system whereby M. Scarborough and the district
manager agreed that a tel ephone |line would be extended to the
Ainchfield Mne, approximately 300 yards away, and Cinchfield
Coal Conpany agreed to provide the Raven M ne wi th energency
anbul ance service. Upon the subsequent installation of the
t el ephone on January 26, he terminated the w thdrawal order
Al t hough he nodified and termnated the withdrawal order, M.
Tankersl ey did not believe that the contestant acted in a
reasonabl e manner in abating the citation and w thdrawal order
because non-paynent of bills is not a valid reason. The first
time contestant attenpted to negotiate with Cinchfield about a
tel ephone line was January 24, 1979, and prior to this tine
contestant refused to pay the delinquent tel ephone bills, but the
t el ephone was subsequently reinstalled at the mne (Tr. 33-43).

On cross-exam nation, Inspector Tankersley testified that
section 75.1713-2 permits the use several neans of



conmuni cati ons, such as a phone, CB, vehicle radio phone, or
ot her nmeans of pronpt comuncation to the nearest point of
nmedi cal assistance."” He stated that "any other neans of

any
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pronmpt comuni cation” means sonme kind of positive conmunication
between the nedical facility and the mne, and it does not nean
face-to-face vocal comunication. He would not accept as
conpliance M. Scarborough running to the dinchfield Mne to
seek anbul ance assistance in the event of an accident. Although
the Dante Clinic is sone 5 mles, or 20 minutes, fromthe mne
whereas the dinchfield Mne is 5 m nutes away and has an

anmbul ance avail able, dinchfield does not have the nedica
personnel as does the clinic, and the intent of section 75.1713-2
is to provide nedical service. Further, even though M.
Scarborough is a lessee of dinchfield, it is debatable whether
Ainchfield woul d render assistance (Tr. 43-47). At the tine the
tel ephone line to Adinchfield was being installed on January 25,
a CB system woul d have sufficed as |long as there were soneone
present all the tine to answer it. He did not believe that
someone running to Ainchfield would satisfy the requirenent of
promptness (Tr. 48). There have been no nedi cal energencies at
the mne (Tr. 48).

Responding to a question about section 75.1713-1, M.
Tankersley testified that it requires the mne operator to advise
the district manager of the type of communication plan used at
the m ne so the district manager can determ ne whether it
conmplies with the standard, and if there are changes, the
operator is required to notify the district manager within 10
days. Section 75.1713-2 allows the operator to determ ne whet her
or not the change in communication conplies with the requirenents
(Tr. 49).

On redirect exam nation, Inspector Tankersley testified that
the "Paul Revere" type of comunication, as opposed to the
tel ephone line to the Cinchfield Mne, is not satisfactory
because the 300 yard distance by foot is not easily traveled or
accessi bl e during snow or rainy weather. |f an accident occurs
on mine property, the operator is required to nmaintain a
per manent tel ephone nunmber for the energency nedical facilities
posted (Tr. 50).

On recross-exam nation, M. Tankersley testified that the
Ainchfield Moss 3A Mne is 300 yards hi gher on the nmountain than
the Raven mine, and the m nes are connected by a haul age road.

M ners frequently use a vehicle in traveling on the haul age road
to and fromboth mnes (Tr. 51-52). Responding to a bench
guesti on about whether he was aware of the existence of an

al ternate neans of communi cati on when he issued the citation on
January 9, 1979, Inspector Tankersley stated that he was not (Tr.
55). Calls fromthe mne to the Dante Cinic were not nmade by CB
radi o, and the reason for issuing the citation was that he
observed no tel ephone at the mne (Tr. 57).

On redirect exam nation, Inspector Tankersley testified that
if the tel ephone had been replaced in the mne office by a CB
radi o, he woul d not have issued a citation, and had he observed
any tel ephone comuni cation between the two mnes, he woul d have
contacted personnel at the other mne to ascertain whether this
arrangenent was acceptable (Tr. 58).
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On recross-exam nation, Inspector Tankersley testified that he
does not inspect any mines that are using CB radios. 1In
Kent ucky, MSHA inspectors have accepted CB radi os under section
75.1713-1 only if they are installed in the mne office, but a CB
radio installed in a vehicle which is not on mne property at al
ti mes does not conply with section 75.1713-1 (Tr. 59).

Contestant's Testi nmony

James C. Scarborough, President of Raven M ning Conpany,
testified that he probably wote up a conmunication plan, but
when he first started operations, he could not obtain tel ephones.
In view of the fact that the C & P Tel ephone Conpany was slow in
installing tel ephones, he installed a tel ephone |line down the
hill to the dinchfield Mne and used that systemas a nine
t el ephone. Al though M. Tankersley did not inspect the mne at
that time, another inspector did and and he accepted the system
On January 8, the mne used a CB radio instead of a tel ephone,
because the existing line to Cinchfield was broken by a truck
VWen the CB was being used he did not advise MSHA of the change
because he was not aware that he had to, and he spoke to no
i nspector about it (Tr. 62). He could not recall whether the
phone was out or in and indicated that he was experiencing
difficulties in maintaining the phone in working order when it
rained and that the phone conpany could not maintain it in
operating order (Tr. 63).

M. Scarborough testified that his CB arrangenents entail ed
arrangenents with a M. Darrel Duty, who is hone all the tine
working with CB's. In the event of the need for nedica
assistance, a call would be made to M. Duty froma CB in three
trucks at the mne and he in turn would call the Coeburn Rescue
Squad whi ch was an hours drive away. There was no CB in the mne
office. This plan never included the Dante Clinic, and M.

Scar borough stated he did not know that the Dante Cinic had an
anbul ance service. This arrangenent was the mne plan which was
filed with MSHA in addition to the plan to run to the adjacent
clinchfield mne to summon their anbul ance in the event of an
energency. He then stated that the CB plan was not filed with
MSHA' s district manager, but that it was in use at the mne. The
di strict manager was al so not inforned about the arrangenents to
use dinchfield s anbul ance, but frequent trips are nmade to that
m ne either by autonobile over the road or on foot. |In addition,
he can yell down to the mine and can be heard. He has never

di scussed this plan with Inspector Tankersley (Tr. 63-68).

M. Scarborough stated that under his interpretation of
section 75.1713-2, he can "holler at sonebody and get
conmuni cation, it's just as well as talking to sonmebody on the
tel ephone.” He was not at the mine when the inspector was there
on January 8, but he set up a CB radio after that time and his
enpl oyee assured himfromthat day on that the three vehicles
with CB's would be at the mne at all tines. He learned fromhis
enpl oyee that when the inspector returned to the nmine, he refused
an offer to call M. Duty on the CB and issued his cl osure order
(Tr. 69).



M. Scarborough stated that he is not protesting the fact
that the inspector issued a citation on January 8 after he
observed that there was no
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phone in the mne office. Hs protest is of the closure order
after he established CB comunication and the procedure for
running to the dinchfield mne for assistance (Tr. 77).

On cross-exam nation, M. Scarborough testified that he did
not know when the tel ephone was renoved fromthe mne office, nor
he know whether the foreman's truck with the CB radio was off
m ne property. Although he did not see or talk to Inspector
Tankersl ey, he testified that M. Tankersley returned to the nmne
on January 12, the date on which the citation was schedul ed to be
term nated, and he spoke with foreman Gary Johnson, and granted
an extension for abatenent until January 19. He further
testified that he did not see or talk to Inspector Tankersley
during the citation closure stage, and M. Johnson inforned him
about the CB arrangenents with M. Duty, but that he personally
has never net M. Duty (Tr. 91-93). Although the m ne was
operating under two shifts when the citation was issued, al
three enployees with the CB's in their trucks were on mne
property at all tinmes even though they worked only one shift.

Now that the mine is operating under one shift, all three
enpl oyees are present (Tr. 94).

Responding to a question about the reinstallation of the
t el ephone system between his mne and the dinchfield Mne, M.
Scar borough testified that he authorized the issuance of a
t el ephone order on January 22, 1979. Although Inspector
Tankersl ey granted respondent 3 days beyond the extension to
January 22, he testified that it was unreasonable for himfor not
trying out the CB radio. If all three enployees were there, a CB
radi o was guaranteed to be there. Foreman Gary Johnson has never
been absent since the mine has been in operation, and M. Johnson
told himthat |nspector Tankersley was m staken about the CB
radi o truck being taken away by his wife on January 8, 1979 (Tr.
96) .

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Revi ewabi lity of the C osure O der

During the hearing, MSHA reasserted its view that the
contest shoul d be di sm ssed because the pleadings filed by the
contestant indicated a desire by contestant to be heard on the
limted question of "danages" sustained by the closure order
Since the Act does not provide for nonetary damages, and since a
final default order assessing a civil penalty in the anmount of
$160 for the citation in question was entered on May 23, 1979,
and forwarded to the Justice Departnent for collection on July
12, 1979, MSHA argues that the operator's opportunity for
affirmatively pleading econonmic loss as a mitigating factor in
t he amount of any penalty assessed is irrevocably lost (Tr. 8-10;
MSHA' s Mbtion to Dismiss, filed August 23, 1979).

Contestant argued that its intent in filing its initial
noti ce of contest on February 8, 1979, was to chall enge both the
fact of violation and the subsequent wi thdrawal order which
i ssued. Contestant maintained that it should be given the



opportunity to establish and prove its contention that at the
tinme the citation issued, contestant did in fact have a
conmmuni cati ons systemin effect at the mne which nmet the
requi renents of
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section 75.1713-2, that the issuance of the citation and the
order were arbitrary, and that contestant should be entitled to
present its case so as to avail itself of all available

adm nistrative, as well as economic renedies to which it is
entitled under the Act (Tr. 12-14).

It woul d appear fromthe record in this case that no formal
civil penalty proceeding has ever been filed by MSHA with the
Conmi ssion, and this resulted fromthe fact that the contestant
did not contest the initial proposed penalty issued by NMSHA
pursuant to 30 CFR 100.5 and 100.6, and the matter culmnated in
a default order being forwarded to the Departnment of Justice for
coll ection of the $160 assessnment for Citation No. 035139. Under
the circunstances, | agree with MSHA's assertion that contestant
is foreclosed frompl eading any off-set resulting fromthe
closure order in its current contest. However, it seens clear
that in a civil penalty proceeding, the validity of the order is
not in issue, and wi thdrawal orders are not subject to vacation
Buf fal o M ni ng Conpany, 2 |IBMA 327 (1973); Plateau M ning
Conmpany, 2 IBMA 303 (1973); Ashland M ning Conpany, 5 |IBMA 259
(1975); Jewell Ridge Coal Conpany, 3 IBMA 376 (1974). The usua
met hod for an operator to contest the propriety and legality of a
wi t hdrawal order is to seek review pursuant to section 105(d) of
the Act, and the fact that the conditions cited have been abated
and the order term nated does not warrant dismssal of the
contest, Zeigler Coal Conpany, 1 IBMA 72 (1971). On the facts
and circunstances presented in this proceeding, | conclude that
contestant is entitled to an i ndependent review of the validity
and propriety of the closure order issued pursuant to section
104(b) of the Act, notwithstanding the fact that it did not
contest the initial proposed civil penalty assessnment. Under the
ci rcunmst ances, MSHA's narrow and restrictive reading of the
notice of contest filed in this case is rejected and its notion
to dismiss is DENIED. | conclude that contestant has a right to
seek review of the reasonabl eness of the abatenent tine, and
coupled with the fact that it nay be liable to conpensate m ners
under section 111 of the Act for the period of tine the mne was
closed as a result of that order, it is is entitled to its day in
court, and MSHA conceded as much during oral argument (Tr. 20-23
26). Although it is true the notice of contest filed by the
contestant on February 8, 1979, makes reference to a desire for a
hearing "to determ ne damages"” sustained by the contestant as a
result of the closure order, | believe that the pleadi ngs should
be broadly construed so as to protect not only the rights of
m ners, but mne operators as well.

Reasonabl eness of the Abatement Tine

The underlying citation issued in this case charges the
contestant with a violation of 30 CFR 75.1713-2, which provides
as follows:

(a) Each operator of an underground coal m ne shal
establish and maintain a communi cati on systemfromthe
mne to the nearest point of medical assistance for use
in an energency.
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(b) The energency communi cati on systemrequired to be
mai nt ai ned under paragraph (a) of this 0075.1713-2 may be
est abl i shed by tel ephone or radi o transm ssion or by any
ot her means of pronpt comunicationi to any facility (for
exanpl e, the local sheriff, the State hi ghway patrol, or
| ocal hospital) which has avail abl e the neans of
conmuni cation with the person or persons providi ng energency
nmedi cal assi stance or transportation in accordance with
the provisions of [075.1713-1.

The citation was initially issued on January 8, 1979, and
the original abatenment time was fixed as January 12, 1979, and
subsequently extended to January 19, 1979. The inspector did not
return to the mne until January 22, 1979, and at that tine nmade
the determination that abatenent had not been achi eved and that
the tinme should not be further extended. Under the
ci rcunst ances, he then proceeded to issue his w thdrawal order
and the issue presented is whether the inspector acted reasonably
inlight of all of the prevailing circunstances. 1In this regard,
it seens clear that where an inspector finds that a violation has
not been abated within the initial or extended tine fixed by him
he is authorized to either grant another extension or issue a
wi t hdrawal order. The inspector nust act reasonably on the basis
of the facts confronting himat that time, United States Stee
Corporation, 7 IBVMA 109 (1976), and it is an abuse of discretion
to issue a withdrawal order if the circunstances show that the
time for abatenent shoul d have been further extended, O d Ben
Coal Conpany, 6 |IBMA 294 (1976). The contestant has the burden
of establishing that the inspector acted unreasonably in fixing
or failing to extend the abatenent tinme, Freeman Coal M ning
Corporation, 1 IBVA 1 (1970).

It seens clear fromthe record in this proceeding that the
i nspector issued the initial citation when he failed to find a
tel ephone installed in the mine office. Although he observed a
phone jack, the tel ephone was m ssing, and upon further inquiry
he | earned that the phone had been renoved because of non-paynent
of past bills. Contestant has presented no evidence to dispute
this fact, and M. Scarborough did not deny it. The inspector
believed that a violation occurred because contestant failed to
maintain its tel ephone comuni cati ons between the mne and a
local clinic, and this arrangenment was the only one on file with
the I ocal MSHA district office. Further, during the course of
oral argunent at the hearing, contestant indicated that it was
not challenging the initial citation issued by the inspector as a
result of his failure to find a tel ephone installed in the m ne
office (Tr. 76). Contestant's defense to the order is based on
the assertion that subsequent to the issuance of the citation
contestant did in fact establish a comunications system which
conplied with section 75.1713-2, when it instituted a procedure
for voice of foot comunications with the adjacent Cinchfield
M ne and a system for use of CB radi os nounted on vehicles which
were on mine property. In these circunstances, contestant argued
that it was in conpliance at the tine the order issued and that
the inspector acted arbitrarily and unreasonably in failing to
accept these procedures as conpliance and in issuing his closure



order (Tr. 75-80).
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Al t hough M. Scarborough alluded to the fact that he had
sonmehow changed hi s conmuni cati on plan which had been filed with
MSHA, and intinmated that MSHA had accepted sonething | ess than
t el ephone communi cations, it seens clear fromthe abatenent and
the testi nony presented by both M. Scarborough and the
i nspector, that abatenment was achi eved by the installation of a
phone |ine between the Raven M ne and dinchfield Mne so that
ener gency anbul ance service could be provided, and that MSHA wil |
not accept CB communi cations nmounted in a mne vehicle or voice
and/ or foot communi cation as conmpliance (Tr. 79-85). It is also
clear to ne that contestant's attenpt at conpliance by utilizing
means ot her than a tel ephone systemtook place during the
abatement period (Tr. 89). M. Scarborough was not at the nine
when the w t hdrawal order was issued on January 22, and he
bel i eved the inspector acted unreasonably by not trying out the
CB radio arrangenents (Tr. 95). Aside fromthe fact that it can
be argued that contestant has waived its right to contest the
fact of violation by not contesting the original civil penalty
assessnment and permtted that assessnent to ripen into a default
judgnment, the facts and evidence adduced at the hearing in this
contest proceeding supports a finding of a violation of the cited
standard. It seens clear fromthe record that at the tine the
citation issued, contestant was not in conpliance with section
75.1713-2, because it did not have the required operative
t el ephone communi cati ons arrangenents with respect to energency
medi cal assi st ance.

Wth respect to the reasonabl eness of the abatenent tine, |
find and conclude that the record establishes that the inspector
acted in nore than a reasonable fashion in fixing the initial
abatenment tinme, as well as in the exercise of his discretion in
not extending the abatenent tinme any further. On the basis of
t he evidence adduced here, it seens clear to ne that contestant's
failure to maintain the required energency tel ephone
conmmuni cations stens fromthe fact that contestant failed to pay
its past due tel ephone bills. That is a matter solely within the
contestant's control, and I can find no mtigating circunstances
presented which detracts fromthat fact. The initial abatenent
time was nore than anple for contestant to resolve the matter
wi th the phone conpany. As a matter of fact, contestant was
gratuitously given an additional period for conpliance from
January 19 to January 22. However, on the basis of the record
here presented that tinme was apparently spent by contestant in an
effort to convince MSHA that his alternative conmunications
efforts were in conpliance rather than to conmply with the
citation and tinely reinstall the phone. Considering the totality
of the circunstances presented, | conclude and find that the tine
fixed for abatenment was reasonabl e and that the inspector was not
arbitrary in failing to extend the abatenent tinme further. The
order is AFFI RVED.

ORDER
In view of the foregoing findings and conclusions, Citation

No. 035139, issued January 8, 1979 and Order of Wthdrawal No.
0678141, issued January 22, 1979, are AFFIRVED, and contestant's



request for any relief
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with respect to the issuance of the citation and order pursuant
to the Act is DENIED and this contest is D SM SSED.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



